THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

RECEIVED

OCT 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000340
Circuit Court Case No.: 2016-23-05898

Joseph Edward McMullen Appellant,

v.

Terra Oaks Architectural
Committee, Paola Rogers,
Dwaine Cook, and John Simpson,
as putative members of the
Terra Oaks Architectural
Committee, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert C. Childs, III, 1218
Childs Law Firm LLC
2100 Pointsett Highway, Suite D
Greenville, SC 29609
(864) 242-9997

J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in ruling against the Appellant and dismissing the complaint?
2. Did the trial court err by failing to interpret the restrictive covenants in favor of the free use of land?
3. Did the trial court err by failing to find that the TOAC failed to timely respond to the Appellant's plan?
4. Did the trial court err by ruling that plans proposing the re-cutting of a lot are not subject to the fifteen day response rule?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was initiated by the Plaintiff/Appellant filing a summons and complaint on October 17, 2016. Respondent filed an answer and motion for summary judgment on January 30, 2017. A hearing was subsequently held before the Hon. William Seals, Jr., on the Respondent's motion for summary judgment. As a result of the hearing an order was entered on May 25, 2017, granting the Respondent summary judgment and dismissing the Plaintiff's Alienation of Property, Estoppel, Waiver, and Laches causes of action. No appeal was taken from that order.

On October 4, 2017 an Order of Reference was entered referring the case to the master with authority to enter final judgment. A hearing was subsequently held before the Hon. Charles B. Simmons on the Appellant's remaining issues. As a result of the hearing an Order of Judgment was entered on February 2, 2018, denying the Appellant relief and dismissing the complaint. The Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal on February 22, 2018.

Robert C. Childs, III, represented the Appellant at trial and was joined on appeal by J. Falkner Wilkes. Ralph Gleaton represented the Respondent at trial and continues on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant owns property in the Terra Oaks subdivision, located in Greenville County. The Terra Oaks subdivision is subject to restrictive covenants. T. 16. P-1. Pursuant to the covenants, the re-cutting of a lot requires prior approval by the Terra Oaks Architectural Committee (TOAC). P. Ex. 1. The provision relating to the re-cutting of lots refers to the enabling Article for the TOAC.¹ P. Ex. 1. Paragraph 2 of the enabling provisions of the TOAC provides that all building plans shall be submitted to the TOAC. P. Ex. 1. Paragraph 4 of the enabling provision provides that in the event the Committee fails to approve or disapprove such designs and plans within fifteen (15) days after the plans have been submitted to it, that such plans shall be deemed to have been approved. P-1.

On January 7, 2016, the Appellant submitted a plan to the other members of the TOAC. 38; P-10; P-11. The plan proposed to re-cut a Terra Oaks lot owned by the Appellant. 38; 114, 167. At that time the Committee was comprised of three members, Simpson, Rogers and the Appellant. R. 69. Pursuant to the covenants: "All members shall constitute a quorum and a majority vote shall be required for the transaction of any business of the Committee." R. 96; P-1. In submitting the plan the Appellant expected that a committee meeting would be held to discuss and vote on the plan. 38. Although no proper committee meeting was called or held the Appellant received an email from Simpson's wife stating that other members of the TOAC had considered and rejected the Appellant's plan. 38-43; P. 12. The decision reflected in the email, as well as the email itself was not the product of a meeting wherein a quorum was present or voted.

¹The reference to Article III is a typographical error in the covenants. Article IV enables the TOAC.

R. 62; 175-176. As to the Appellant's plan there was no formal meeting or vote of the TOAC when a quorum existed. 62; 175-176.

After receiving the email purporting to be an official act of the TOAC the Appellant, as chairman of the TOAC, called a meeting. 44-45. None of the other members showed up at the called meeting. 45-46. Despite having less than a quorum for any meeting or conversation concerning the Appellant's request, under the purported authority of the TOAC the other members continued to deny the Appellant permission to cut the lot. 46-50. Prior to the expiration of fifteen days from his initial request, the Appellant was never provided notice of a decision that was the result of a vote where a quorum was present. 51-52; 128-129; 154.

In response to the submission of his plan, members Simpson and Rogers met at Roger's house on January 11th to discuss the request. The Appellant was not informed and therefore was not in attendance. 149. Simpson admitted that he intentionally did not include Appellant in any meeting or discussion regarding the Appellant's plan. 149. Simpson admitted that he *refused* to give the Appellant a meeting on the issue of re-cutting his lot. 120-121. Prior to the expiration of the fifteen day period, and for many months thereafter, there was no formal meeting or vote where a quorum was present. 151. Subsequently, the other members of the Committee went on to purportedly remove the Appellant from the TOAC, still without a proper meeting or quorum. 53; 154. When the Appellant submitted a second proposal on October 7, 2016 there was another rejection by members of the committee without the Appellant's participation. 53.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

An action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity. Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1, 3, n. 2, 498 S.E.2d 862, 864, n. 2 (1998). On appeal of an equitable action tried by a Master, the Court can find facts in accordance with its own view of the evidence. *Id.*; Townes Assoc. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001).

Discussion

I. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO HOLD THAT THE APPELLANT'S PLAN TO RE-CUT LOT WAS DEEMED APPROVED WHEN THE TOAC FAILED TO PROPERLY ACCEPT OR REJECT PLAN WITHIN FIFTEEN DAY PERIOD.

A restriction on the use of the property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property. Hardy v. Aiken, 369 S.C. 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d 539, 542 (2006). Contrary to the rule, the court here construed the covenants *against* the free use of the Appellant's property.

In the present case the master expressly found the covenants at issue to be in-artfully drawn, and a lack of clarity is evident given that the provision allowing the TOAC to approve plans to re-cut a lot provides no procedure by which the Committee may do so. The covenants in this regard are ambiguous. A restrictive covenant is ambiguous when its terms are reasonably susceptible of more than one interpretation. South Carolina Dep't of Natural Resources v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 550 S.E.2d 299 (2001). While the provision as to the re-cutting of lots fails to speak as to how such a plan is submitted, considered, and decided, the provision

does make reference to the enabling article for the TOAC, and that article sets forth a very specific procedure for plans submitted to the Committee. Given the absence of a procedure being stated in the one provision, its reference to the article containing a procedure for other plans indicates an intent that the stated procedure be applied to all plans to the Committee.

While the master interpreted the provisions pertaining to plans proposing the re-cutting of lots as independent from all other provisions of the covenants, it is entirely reasonable to interpret the referral back to the TOAC empowering article as requiring the same procedure be applied to a plan for re-cutting a lot as would apply for any other plan submitted to the TOAC for approval. To do otherwise leaves a plan for the re-cutting of a lot without any defined procedure as to its submission, consideration, or decision process. The court therefore erred in failing to consider the intent of the drafters in light of the whole document.

Restrictive covenants are contractual in nature, so that the paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as determined from the whole document. The court may not limit a restriction in a deed, nor, on the other hand, will a restriction be enlarged or extended by construction or implication beyond the clear meaning of its terms even to accomplish what it may be thought the parties would have desired had a situation which later developed been foreseen by them at the time when the restriction was written. It is still the settled rule in this jurisdiction that restrictions as to the use of real estate should be strictly construed and all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property, subject, however, to the provision that this rule of strict construction should not be applied so as to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument. It follows, of course, that where the language of the restrictions is equally capable of two or more different constructions that construction will be adopted which least restricts the use of the property. A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of property.

S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001) *citing Taylor*, 332 S.C. at 4–5, 498 S.E.2d at 863–64 (*emphasis added*)

(internal quotations and citations omitted).

Similar to the provisions pertaining to the re-cutting of lots, the enabling article for the TOAC requires that plans for the erection of buildings or improvements be approved by the Committee. In a separate paragraph the enabling article further provides for a procedure for such plans. Under that provision, once a plan has been submitted, the TOAC must take action within fifteen days to either accept or reject the plan. The plans are deemed accepted if the TOAC fails to approve or disapprove the plan within the fifteen days. The re-cutting provision on the other hand provides no procedure for the submission, consideration and decision on a plan. The drafters of the covenants could not have intended to have provided no procedure to have a lot re-cut where they clearly intended that it be possible to do so. The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language. Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). When read as a whole, the lack of any other procedure, combined with the referral to the enabling article, the covenants must be read as intending to engage the same procedure applicable to other plans, which require the TOAC to approve or reject a plan within fifteen days.

Because the covenants are unclear as to the procedure relating to a request to re-cut a lot, the master erred in failing to interpret them against the TOAC and in favor of the Appellant. Restrictive covenants are to be construed most strictly against the grantor and persons seeking to enforce them. Sprouse v. Winston, 212 S.C. 176, 46 S.E.2d 874 (1948). “[A] restriction on the use of the property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free

use of property.” See Hamilton v. CCM, Inc., 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980).

Although the requirement for Committee approval for re-cutting a lot is defined, the related process for submission and procedures thereafter are not. The court must therefore interpret the covenants in a way that is least restrictive to the free use of property, which in this case would require applying the fifteen day requirement and automatic approval if the TOAC fails to either approve or disapprove the plan. Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1, 4, 498 S.E.2d 862, 863 (1998).

Here, reading the covenants as a whole, the provision pertaining to plans proposing the re-cutting of a lot should be subjected to the same procedure as any other plan submitted to the TOAC for approval.

Lack of Action by TOAC Constitutes Approval