THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

Case No. 2016-CP-23-05898
Appellate Case No. 2018-000340

RECEIVED

FEB 15 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Joseph Edward McMullen, Appellant,

v.

Terra Oaks Architectural Committee, Paola Rogers,
Dwain Cook and John Simpson as putative members of
the Terra Oaks Architectural Committee, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Ralph Gleaton # 7308
GLEATON LAW FIRM, PC
P.O. Box 5739
Greenville, SC 29606
ralph@gleatonlaw.com

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON SULLIVAN, LLC
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Respondents believe this appeal presents two issues:

- I. Whether this Court should affirm the judgment below based on the un-appealed finding that the Terra Oaks Architectural Committee lacked the power to grant appellant's request to subdivide his property.
- II. Whether the master in equity correctly held the 15-day "automatic approval" provision of the restrictive covenant governing Terra Oaks did not apply to requests to subdivide but was instead limited to requests that involved building or modifying improvements on lots.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Abbreviated Summary

This appeal involves a restrictive covenant requiring written approval before property in a neighborhood can be subdivided. See (PI's Ex.1, p.3, ¶4) (the covenant).

The appellant was denied permission to subdivide his property on multiple occasions. After that, he brought this lawsuit claiming the committee tasked with reviewing his application did not follow the proper procedures. He claimed this failure resulted in his application's automatic approval. He makes these same arguments on appeal.

The master in equity rejected appellant's argument for two reasons. First, the master held the covenant's 15-day "automatic approval" provision did not apply to requests to subdivide property. (2/2/18 Or.p.4). Instead, the master found automatic approval applied to applications involving plans to build on lots or to alter improvements built on lots. *Id.*

The master also found that the committee tasked with reviewing the application did not have the power to grant this particular request. (*Id.*pp.4-5). This appeal followed.

B. Factual Background

The Terra Oaks neighborhood has 20 lots and is located in Greenville. A plat of the neighborhood was attached to the neighborhood's restrictive covenants when they were executed in 1980. (Pl's Ex.1, p.9). The plat is not the best quality, but it is still readable.

This litigation concerns Lots 3 and 4 on the top of that plat.

The appellant owns Lot 3. Through a series of transactions in 2009, he purchased part of Lot 4 and then traded some of that land with a neighboring landowner whose property was outside Terra Oaks.

This was done in stages. Appellant purchased the relevant part of Lot 4—Tract A on the plat attached to that deed—in January of 2009. (Pl's Ex.3, pp.2-3). The swap with the neighbor outside Terra Oaks happened a few months later, in May 2009. There, appellant released Tract C in exchange for Tract B. (Pl's Ex.4, p.5) (the plat for the land swap).

This hodgepodge eventually culminated in appellant's request to subdivide his property into three lots. These are designated as Lots A, B, and C on the plat submitted with the request to subdivide. (Pl's Ex.11). Importantly, proposed Lots B and C contain some land inside Terra Oaks and other land outside the subdivision.

The restrictive covenants for Terra Oaks explain "No lot shall be recut without first obtaining the written permission of the Architectural Committee created under Article III thereof." (Pls' Ex. 1, p.3, ¶4). The Architectural Committee is actually created under article IV of the covenants. (Id.p.4).

The parties dispute several things surrounding the Architectural Committee's composition and operation, but nobody disputes that in May of 2015, the Architectural

Committee consisted of appellant and two of the respondents; John Simpson and Paola Rogers. Nobody disputes that the first time appellant mentioned subdividing his property was after a committee meeting in May of 2015 that had been convened for the purpose of addressing a neighbor's request to build a fence. (Tr.p.106, line 19 - p.110, line 14).

Nobody appears to dispute that appellant and Simpson spent at least an hour walking appellant's property discussing the proposal that same day. (Id.p.110, line 5-14). At trial, appellant introduced an e-mail to him dated a few days later, May 13, 2015 to be precise, explaining Simpson and Rogers would not vote in favor of appellant's request to subdivide his lot. (Pl's Ex.7).

Appellant did not pursue this request or any other with the committee until several months had passed. Then, in December of 2015, appellant signed a contract to sell part of his lot. The closing date was to be no later than January 14, 2016. (Pl's Ex.8, p.2, ¶8).

Appellant made a verbal request to the committee on January 7th, seven days before the closing, for his lot to be subdivided into three lots. (Pl's Ex.12, p.1). He supplemented this with a formal request sent by e-mail the following day. (Pl's Exs.10 & 11).

The request is notable in two respects. First, it explains Lots B and C consist of property inside Terra Oaks as well as property outside the subdivision. (Pl's Ex.10, p.2). Second, the request purported to decree that Lot B was "perpetually" part of the Terra Oaks subdivision, that Lot C was not part of the Terra Oaks subdivision, and that appellant would attach covenants to Lot C prohibiting mobile homes or commercial activity. *Id.*

Simpson testified he met appellant at appellant's house after receiving this request and that the meeting lasted for at least an hour and a half. (Tr.p.115, line 10 - p.118, line 22).

Simpson explained he marked-up documents to take to Rogers (the other committee member) and then met with Rogers for another hour and a half concerning the request. *Id.*

On January 21, 2016, fourteen days after appellant's verbal request, Simpson and Rogers sent appellant an e-mail informing him that his subdivision request had been denied. (Pl's Ex.13). Appellant responded with an e-mail the following day claiming it was inappropriate for the committee to meet without him being present and rejecting the denial. (Pl's Ex.14). Appellant then claimed that he, as "chair" of the committee, was calling a meeting for January 24th, two days later. *Id.* Rogers responded to this e-mail by contending appellant had a direct financial stake in the matter and disputing appellant's authority to participate in or call a meeting regarding his request to subdivide his own property. *Id.*

In March of 2016, the subdivision request came up again at a neighborhood meeting at appellant's house. Simpson explained he took this opportunity to propose another person serve as the third member of the Architectural Committee and that the committee add an alternate member who could serve in the event of a conflict. (Tr.p.124, line 11 - p.125, line 21). Appellant said he agreed to this, but on the conditions that he was ensured a fair hearing and that the committee would not have any more meetings without him being present. (Tr.p.49, line 9 - p.50, line 12).

Shortly thereafter, Simpson notified appellant by text message that the newly constituted committee met and concluded no further review of appellant's subdivision proposal was needed. (Pl's Ex.15). Months later, in October of 2016, appellant sent Simpson and Rogers letters purporting to "remove" them from the Architectural Committee. (Pl's Exs. 17 & 18).

Though not directly relevant to the arguments in this appeal, certain disputes surrounding the Architectural Committee's composition and operation are important to understanding the complete background of this case.

First, appellant became a member of the Architectural Committee in December of 2008. (Pl's Ex.2). This was a month before he purchased the back of Lot 4 from a member of the original Architectural Committee. (Pl's Ex.3, pp.1-2). There is no record of any written approval by the Architectural Committee for appellant's purchase of part of Lot 4. No sensible explanation for this was offered at trial. See (Tr.p.69, line 2 - p.70, line 9).

Second, even though a document in evidence purports to appoint Simpson and Rogers to the Architectural Committee in 2008, both Simpson and Rogers testified the first time appellant approached them about serving on the committee was in 2011. (Tr.p.101, line 18 - p.102, line 13; p.177, lines 1-2).

Third and finally, the parties disputed the authenticity of a document purporting to be written approval from the committee in 2009 for appellant to further divide his part of Terra Oaks Lot 4 and sell it to a neighbor outside the subdivision. (Pl's Ex.5). Simpson and Rogers denied signing this document. (Tr.p.129, pp.9-25; p.177, lines 14-20). The document says the committee met and approved the division on May 7, 2009, but even appellant acknowledges no such meeting occurred. (Tr.p.75, lines 1-12). Again, Simpson and Rogers say they knew nothing about the committee until appellant approached them two years later.

C. Brief Summary of Litigation

Appellant filed this suit in October of 2016. (Complaint). This was days after he sent Simpson and Rogers letters purporting to remove them from the committee. (Exs. 17 & 18).

The case was referred to the master in equity who conducted the trial on January 10, 2018. Four witnesses testified: appellant, Simpson, Rogers, and the individual who contracted to purchase part of appellant's property back in 2015. (Tr.p.2).

The master issued his judgment on February 2, 2018. (2/2/18 Or.pp.1-7). The master found the covenant's 15-day "automatic approval" provision did not apply to requests to subdivide property. (2/2/18 Or.p.4). The master also found the committee tasked with reviewing the application did not have the power to grant this particular request. (Id.pp.4-5). The basis for this alternative holding was that the committee lacked the power to release property from the covenants or to attach new covenants to appellant's property. *Id.* Recall that appellant's request purported to decree that Lot B was "perpetually" part of the Terra Oaks subdivision, that Lot C was not part of the Terra Oaks subdivision, and that appellant would attach different covenants to Lot C. (Pl's Ex.10, p.2).

There was no motion for the master to alter or amend his decision. Appellant served notice of this appeal February 22, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is de novo. Appellant filed this case seeking alternative rulings that the restrictive covenant was invalid or had been followed. This is similar to an action to enforce a restrictive covenant, which sounds in equity. *Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. 1, 3 n.2, 498 S.E.2d 862, 863 n.2 (1998). The same standard applies if the case is viewed as an action to interpret the covenant's 15-day "automatic approval" section. Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law which an appellate court reviews de novo. *Callawassie Island Members Club v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018).

ARGUMENT

There are two reasons this Court should affirm.

First, the master found the Terra Oaks Architectural Committee lacked the power to grant appellant's request to subdivide his property. This finding has not been appealed. Thus, the law of this case is that the Court does not have the power to approve appellant's request to bring some property inside Terra Oaks and take other property out of Terra Oaks.

Second, the master correctly held the 15-day time limit for the Architectural Committee to act did not apply to requests for permission to subdivide but was instead limited to the committee's review of plans and improvements. This is supported by the covenant's language and by the parties' conduct.

I. This Court should affirm master's judgment based on the un-appealed finding that the committee lacked the power to grant appellant's request.

The master noted in his judgment that appellant was asking the court to grant the subdivision proposal appellant submitted by e-mail in January of 2016. (2/2/18 Or.pp.4-5). This was consistent with appellant's testimony explaining he believed it would do no good to go back to the Architectural Committee—he wanted a ruling his proposal had been approved because of the committee's "failure to act." (Tr.p.54, line 21 - p.55, line 9).

The master also noted in his judgment that appellant's written proposal purported to declare that one plot of appellant's land inside Terra Oaks was not subject to the covenants for Terra Oaks. (2/2/18 Or.p.5). The master then held that changing the covenants required a majority vote of owners in the neighborhood and that the committee accordingly lacked the authority to grant appellant's proposal. *Id.* At trial, appellant agreed the committee lacked

the power to change the covenants and that the covenants could not be changed absent a majority vote of owners in Terra Oaks. (Tr.p.85, line 15 - p.86, line 8).

Appellant has not challenged this holding and does not argue it is incorrect. This unappealed ruling is the law of the case. *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997).

This ruling controls the outcome. It does not matter whether the request to subdivide was deemed approved. The law of this case is that both the committee and the court lack the power to grant appellant's request. Thus, the court need not review the covenants or interpret their 15-day "automatic approval" provision. The denial of relief should be affirmed.

II. The master correctly held the covenant's 15-day "automatic approval" section did not apply to requests to subdivide but was instead limited to requests that involved building or modifying improvements.

The master found the covenants were not artfully drafted. (2/2/18 Or.p.4). To take an obvious example, the paragraph requiring written permission to subdivide wrongly states the Architectural Committee is created in section III of the covenants, not section IV. (Pl's Ex.1, p.3, ¶4). Still, the master found that when reading the covenants as a whole the covenants treated requests to subdivide differently than requests that involved building or modifying improvements on lots. (2/2/18 Or.p.4). That finding is right and should be affirmed.

The master's finding makes sense textually. The paragraph requiring written permission to subdivide appears in section III of the covenants which is titled "setbacks, locations, and size of improvements and lots." (Pl's Ex.1, pp.2-4). This section gives a

general description of the permissible locations for structures on lots, prohibits certain fences, and contains broad requirements for the size and type of structures permitted. *Id.* There is no “automatic approval” provision anywhere in section III.

A different section of the covenants, section IV, creates the Architectural Committee and deals exclusively with buildings and improvements. This section explains improvements and buildings may not be constructed without first submitting plans, specifications, and plot plans to the committee. (Pl’s Ex.1, p.4, ¶2). This section empowers the committee with full authority to approve or disapprove plans if the plans appear to duplicate another residence in the neighborhood. (Pl’s Ex.1, p.5, ¶3). It also provides “[i]n the event said Committee fails to approve or disapprove such designs and plans within fifteen (15) days” the covenant’s approval requirement will be deemed satisfied. (Pl’s Ex.1, p.5, ¶4).

Again, the 15-day “automatic approval” provision is located under a different section of the covenants. Section IV deals exclusively with the committee’s responsibility to approve building plans. Written permission to subdivide is in a different section.

The master’s finding is also consistent with the construction of the covenants the parties adopted before this dispute began. The record does not suggest the committee followed rigid procedures or that any of the parties believed the committee needed to act within 15 days or else the request would be deemed approved. Take the disputed 2009 “approval” of appellant’s land swap with the neighbor whose land was outside Terra Oaks. Appellant agreed there was no committee meeting about this request and claimed he left the approval form at a neighbor’s house for Simpson and Rogers to sign at their convenience. (Tr.p.23, line 7 - p.24, line 24). Consider also appellant’s conduct with *this* subdivision

request. Appellant's e-mail to the committee did not request a meeting. (Pl's Ex.10, p.1). Instead, appellant attached a "proposed resolution," ostensibly for approval. (Id.p.2).

After appellant's request to subdivide was denied, appellant attempted to call a meeting of the committee for January 24, 2016. (Pl's Ex.14). This would have been more than 15 days after appellant's verbal request on January 7 and his e-mail the following day. Appellant apparently said nothing about automatic approval at the neighborhood meeting in March of 2016 or in response to the text messages he received informing him that no further review would be conducted. (Pls' Ex. 15).

This matters because precedent explains when there is doubt about the proper construction of a contract the court may look to the construction employed by the parties. *Hoffman v. Cohen*, 262 S.C. 71, 77, 202 S.E.2d 363, 366 (1974). Nothing in this record suggests any of the parties—appellant included—believed the committee needed to act quickly or else the subdivision request would be deemed approved.

Contrast this case with *Hardy v. Aiken*, a case where it was possible to read part of a restrictive covenant different ways. There, the covenants had an expiration date but also said, in a separate section, that any change in the covenants must be signed by a majority of landowners in the subdivision. 369 S.C. 160, 163, 631 S.E.2d 539, 540 (2006). The question in *Hardy* was whether the power to amend the covenants included the power to extend their lifespan beyond the expiration date. Reading the covenant narrowly, *Hardy* held the power to amend did not include the power to extend. *Id.* at 160, 166, 631 S.E.2d at 542.

Here, however, there does not appear to be a sensible construction of the covenant applying the 15-day "automatic approval" language to an owner's request to subdivide his

or her lot. Appellant says the fact that there is a specific procedure for approving building plans implies that the same procedure was to be followed for subdivision requests, but the absence of a designated procedure for subdivision requests actually cuts the other way. If the covenants intended all kinds of committee requests to be treated the same, it would have been easy to write the covenants in a way that made that intent evident.

Appellant also says the master failed to construe the covenant in favor of the free use of property. It is difficult to see how that principle points in either direction here. A 15-day “automatic approval” requirement could conceivably result in more approvals of plans by default and inaction, but a time limit does not inherently favor more free use of land.

Precedent also explains the rule of construing restrictive covenants in favor of the free use of property cannot be used to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the covenants. *Taylor*, 332 S.C. at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 864; *Sprouse v. Winston*, 212 S.C. 176, 185, 46 S.E.2d 874, 878 (1948). Again, if the covenants intended all kinds of committee requests to be treated the same, it would have been easy to write the covenants in a way that plainly explained requests to subdivide would be automatically approved unless the committee denied them within 15 days.

*

It bears mentioning that although the process here might have been imperfect, the decision to deny the subdivision was plainly right.

Appellant could not judge his own subdivision request. “The maxim that no man should be a judge in his own case is so well established, both in reason and by authority, that it needs neither argument nor the citation of adjudged cases in its support.” *Bd. of Comm'rs*

of Carroll Cty. v. Justice, 30 N.E. 1085, 1087 (Ind. 1892). The covenants also make it plain that the remaining members of the committee are to appoint a third committee member in the event of a conflict. (Pl's Ex.1, p.4, ¶1). It is undisputed that a full committee met on appellant's request and denied the request. (Pl's Ex.29, p.2, ¶16).

The covenants give the committee complete discretion to deny a request to subdivide a lot. See, e.g., *Palmetto Dunes Resort v. Brown*, 287 S.C. 1, 6, 336 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 1985) (restrictive covenant gave committee complete discretion to reject plans for "aesthetic considerations"). All owners in Terra Oaks voluntarily bound themselves to the covenants—appellant included. The court cannot and should not re-write what may seem in hindsight to have been "an improvident bargain." *Erkes v. Kasparek*, 303 S.C. 70, 73, 399 S.E.2d 6, 8 (Ct. App. 1990).

There is also nothing wrong with the fact that one member of the committee—Simpson—did the investigating and presented the evidence to his colleagues. Precedent explains a quorum of an adjudicatory body must consider all the evidence and that the taking of evidence may be delegated to a smaller number of the body. *Pettiford v. S.C. State Bd. of Ed.*, 218 S.C. 322, 342, 62 S.E.2d 780, 789 (1950).

And the committee correctly outlined significant substantive concerns with the proposal. The committee believed the division of Terra Oaks Lot 3 into two parts would negatively affect the property values of other lots. (Pl's Ex. 12). The committee also expressed apprehension about the fact that appellant was proposing to retain ownership of "Lot C," that appellant lacked the ability to access Lot C, and that appellant was proposing to take this property out of Terra Oaks. *Id.* These concerns seem imminently sensible.

It appears, on this record, that appellant bought the back of Terra Oaks Lot 4, probably without committee approval. He then further divided that property, again without committee approval, to create three lots out of two. This would be perfectly permissible if there was not a restrictive covenant requiring approval before a lot could be subdivided. But there *is* such a covenant. The request was not approved. The master correctly denied relief. This Court should affirm.